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Yes, makin’ mock o’ uniforms that guard you while you sleep Is cheaper than them uniforms, an’ they’re starvation cheap.

—RUDYARD KIPLING, “TOMMY”




 


Author’s Note
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WHEN IT CAME to writing this book, my initial approach was pure newspaper reporter: You start at the beginning, period.

Even decades ago, writing about National Hockey League games for The Globe and Mail on deadline, I couldn’t manage to file what’s called “running copy.” Basically, this is the middle of the story, and the game. The idea is that you get this done early, then write the top of the piece once you have the final score. More able colleagues can do it in their sleep, but I always had to start with the first paragraph and go to the second and so on. I couldn’t write word one until the game was over.

I brought this rigid blockhead mentality to the book. The beginning, I figured, must be the introduction, because that’s what comes first. In January 2007, I was just back from spending the Christmas holidays in Kandahar. Exhausted, as you always are when returning from Afghanistan, I wasted about three weeks on the stupid introduction. I’d write a couple thousand words, go to bed feeling satisfied, and wake up appalled: Everything I’d written was about me, and why I was writing this book I had no clue how to write.

Every morning, I destroyed what I’d written the night before.

Finally, I threw myself upon the mercy of the small group of women with whom I run a few times a week. We met, as usual, in Judy Wolfe’s kitchen, and there, desperation in my voice, I told them my problem: I had no fucking idea how to write the fucking thing, no plan, just a lot of stories destined to move only me to tears, since I was apparently incapable of putting them to paper. I begged them to skip the run, and they agreed immediately.

As selfless as that was, I should mention it was so bitterly cold that one of our number, Karen Falconer, also known as the Weather Pussy for the obsessive way she monitors all storm fronts that come within five hundred kilometres of Toronto, had already cancelled and was missing in action.

These women are a clever bunch with diverse skills, none of which I have. Wolfe is a strategic planner by trade; Mary McIntyre is marketing director for a leading architectural practice, plus a talented jewellery designer who attends the Ontario College of Art and Design part time; Margaret McNee is a lawyer; and Janis Caruana, a legal assistant, raised with her husband, Abe, five daughters in a house that had only one full bathroom when the kids were little.

(As a measure of the state I was in, McIntyre resisted the temptation to crow about the exchange she and I had had a few months earlier. Out running one day, she asked if I had a structure for the book yet. “What structure?” I’d snorted. “Mary, I’m a writer. It’ll come.”)

Within an hour, they had me a plan: I was to buy a big roll of paper and write down the people and elements I wanted in each chapter. I had to have a physical map of what the book would be.

I bought the supplies that same morning and followed my marching orders, starting with one of the stories—of a battle on August 3, 2006, in which four Canadians were killed—I’d told my friends. Putting down on paper what I wanted to include in this one chapter gave me the template for the others.

My three trips to Afghanistan were spread out over ten months of 2006; the war itself is seasonal, so there are quiet periods and busy ones. I didn’t think that telling the story in a purely chronological way would work. And there wasn’t a theme, really, except that I wanted to reveal the soldiers as I had found them.

While mapping out the story of August 3, I wondered whether I could tell the story through a number of significant days, days that as the boss of the book I could pick. As it turns out, I already had them all in my head: August 5, when Ray Arndt was killed; July 9, when I was caught in a battle and walked in the blood of a young reservist named Tony Boneca; April 22, when Lieutenant Bill Turner, a letter carrier I’d met on one of my visits, was blown up in a massive bombing; March 4, when Tim Wilson’s organs were harvested and he died; May 17, when Nichola Goddard, whom I knew only as a soothing voice on the radio, was killed.

Pretty soon, I had fifteen big sheets of brown paper taped to the walls of my little home office. I wrote down the days as they came to me, and then I wrote the chapters in the very same order. I had not only my structure, buggered up as it is, but also the title of my book.

Much later, I realized that I’d mixed some of the stories that were hardest to write, where the connections were deep and personal, with some that were just a little easier. Some of the dates really are significant, certainly in terms of who was lost and sometimes because of what was learned, but all of these days matter to me because they speak to the character of the Canadian soldier.
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Ramp ceremony for Pte. Kevin Dallaire, Sgt. Vaughan Ingram, Cpl. Bryce Keller, and Cpl. Christopher Reid

 


3 August 2006
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“Blackest day of my life. Four perfect men lost, seven others injured…. The day will be marked by acts of heroism—some witnessed, some described to me. I will have to tell the story someday, when I can do so without choking up.”

—FROM IAN HOPE TO CHRISTIE BLATCHFORD SATURDAY 8/5/2006 1:40 P.M.

 

BY JULY 2006, Task Force Orion was a killing machine.

Named for the conspicuous constellation of stars known as the Hunter, Orion was the Canadian battle group made up of the soldiers of the 1st Battalion, Princess Patricia’s Canadian Light Infantry in Edmonton; a company from the 2nd Battalion and a battery of gunners from 1st Royal Canadian Horse Artillery, both based in Shilo, Manitoba; and combat engineers.

Even into the early spring, the soldiers of Roto 1, as the seven-month tour in Kandahar Province was called, had confronted many tests that tax a soldier’s resolve and ingenuity. But they had yet to face full-fledged combat.

The troops were being blown up regularly, killed and maimed by Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs) planted by an enemy who went unseen and largely uncaught.

They met endless groups of village elders, and older Afghan men who appointed themselves elders, in countless shuras, or consultations. Most of these were peaceful, if occasionally galling, because the soldiers suspected, and in a few cases damn well knew, that some of the same men laying bombs by night or with certain knowledge of who was doing so would sit cross-legged with them by day, swilling glass after glass of chai tea and nodding agreeably.

The Canadians patrolled on foot and in armoured vehicles and spent long stretches exploring territory, climbing stony hills, searching caves, and living rough far away from the huge base at Kandahar Air Field (KAF) or the little strong points they periodically called home.

“We were basically introducing ourselves—we’re not the Soviets, we’re not the Americans,” Chief Warrant Officer Randy Northrup, the Patricias’ Regimental Sergeant Major (RSM), says of their long, slow start. “We were pissing in our corners. Our mantra was, Go do something, in case he just don’t know who his daddy is.”

I spent four or five days in March 2006 out with Alpha Company’s 3 Platoon, and the only nerve-racking moment came as we were climbing to 6200 feet and a boulder gave way under Captain Sean Ivanko, who was checking out a far-flung cave. He dropped several heart-stopping feet before nimbly grabbing on to another chunk of rock.

Things were so quiet in those days, even pastoral where we were, that I remember wondering to myself, in that remarkably condescending and vainglorious manner journalists the world over have perfected, if the Patricias weren’t playing soldier and maybe laying it on a little thick for my benefit.

In any case, for all that they dared, tried to tantalize, and practically begged the enemy to reveal himself, in those early months he did not.

Lieutenant-Colonel Ian Hope, the Patricias’ commanding officer, remembers that they’d receive intelligence that the Taliban were in a particular area. “Where are they?” “Everywhere.” “What villages?” “All of them.” “When?” “Every day.” “What about the mountains?” “In the mountains too.”

The Taliban almost certainly were there, probably much of the time, but this was their turf, and they alone would decide when the battle was on. “They weren’t ready to fight,” Hope says. “They weren’t ready to fight until sometime in April.”

Because the Patricias were then operating on their own as a Canadian battalion, the considerable fighting they did in late spring and early summer of 2006 received scant attention.

But fight they did, spending weeks in contact—which means in contact with the enemy—and meeting the Taliban in the first of what would add up to more than fifty significant and fierce engagements.

Jon Hamilton, the then twenty-nine-year-old captain of the reconnaissance or recce platoon, first fired his weapon on February 4 in his initial week on the ground in Afghanistan during the operational handover from American troops. At that time, the event was so startling he was quizzed about it.

“I remember actually sitting down with the colonel and the operations officer and they were going, like, ‘Okay, what the hell’s going on here, Jon?’ I was like, ‘I fired my weapon in support of coalition troops. I don’t understand what the problem is here.’”

Hamilton believes he was the first Canadian soldier on the tour to fire a shot, and suspects that as soon as word of it got back home, which in our age means almost instantaneously, military bureaucrats in Ottawa had their knickers in a knot. “Now,” he says, “that seems so stupid…so insignificant compared to what lay ahead.”

By the end of July, Hamilton, his two dozen men, and the rest of the battalion were battle-hardened and so inured to the roar of combat that they were lighting up smokes and cracking jokes with rounds raining down on them.

“This is the kind of stuff you get used to,” Hamilton says. “And it’s not complacency or laziness. It’s just the shit that happens in battle, it’s the human mind protecting itself from going insane or something. It’s the way soldiers are.”

 

For recce, July 4 was the turning point.

Hamilton’s platoon was doing a route reconnaissance near the spot where he’d first fired his weapon months earlier, about 160 kilometres north of Kandahar city and sufficiently far north of Forward Operating Base (FOB) Martello that they were out of the comfort zone, and range, of their enormous artillery guns. They had the usual Afghan complement—the always present “Afghan face” of every mission, though Hope says in retrospect that the only Afghan face they saw consistently on their operations was that of the Taliban. With recce in this instance were some Afghan National Police (ANP), the least-loved element of the Afghan National Security Forces (ANSF).

En route, the small convoy found a village road blocked off with rocks at both ends. Hamilton stopped to question the village elder and was told the Taliban had been there during the night.

“Why would they block off the road?” he asked himself. “Is there somebody high up here? They know we’re gonna stop, they need to slow us, and that gives them time to bugger off. That’s kind of what we were led to believe.”

Guard up, moving single file, their little group of G-Wagons—recce travelled the whole tour in these versatile Jeep-like boxes, the least protected of Canada’s otherwise armed-to-the-teeth fleet—was just cresting a small rise when Sergeant Jeff Schnurr, the 3 section commander, looked off to the right.

The army has a formal procedure for the sighting of enemy, just as it has a formal procedure, or form, for every eventuality and every thing. That’s both why it works and why it can make smart men crazy. This particular procedure is called a fire control order, and it’s supposed to be done the same way every time—something like, “Contact, reference hill 600 metres left.”

But what Schnurr barked to his light machine gunner Corporal Jimmy Funk was, “Jim, they’re on the right! Fuck ’em up!”

“The old expression, Catch somebody with their pants down,” Hamilton says, “well, literally, that’s what we did. These guys were obviously armed, they had the chest rigs on [brassiere-like systems of straps and pouches for carrying ammunition], and they were having their lunch by the river. And they were undressed—you know, shoes off and everything.”

Hamilton, Schnurr, Sergeants Willy MacDonald and Mars Janek, and about three others moved in on foot, while the rest of the platoon remained with the G-Wagons, gunners spinning around the turrets as the Taliban began to return fire.

“These guys didn’t have a chance,” Hamilton says. “We just wiped them out. And I can remember seeing half a dozen of ’em and looking through a scope and shooting and watching guys drop. I thought, Jesus, this is a turkey shoot, these guys are done. There’s got to be at least six bodies down there. I look over at Willy, and we just kind of looked at each other and I just gave the order to cease fire. Because we had clearly won the firefight.”

The Taliban is respected, however reluctantly, for retrieving their dead and wounded as scrupulously as the Canadians do; their practice is to maintain harassing fire just long enough to pick up their fallen comrades. And that’s what they did, buying themselves time until they could run out through a wadi, one of the dried-up riverbeds that are far more common than actual rivers in the south.

It wasn’t long before Hamilton and MacDonald were down by the stream. They found clothes everywhere, the remains of the men’s lunch, shoes, five or six AK-47s and a Rocket-Propelled Grenade (RPG), but only one dead body, a young man of seventeen or eighteen at most, his chest rig full of bullet holes.

Hamilton was infuriated. He’d seen men falling with his own eyes through his scope, and so had MacDonald. Besides, “I know the difference between troops making shit up and not, and I know my guys just aren’t like that. And I know myself, I watched this guy drop, where the hell is he? I told Willy, ‘We only found one, where the fuck are they?’ And he [said], ‘I dunno, man.’”

Then they spotted a blood trail, and what Hamilton had learned in an advanced reconnaissance course taught at Gagetown, New Brunswick, was suddenly useful. When he took the course, he remembers, he’d thought, “What the hell, this is World War II stuff, tracking Germans through the hills. What a waste of time. I knew so much then.”

So they followed the trail, about 300 metres from the actual contact itself. “We picked it up, we lost it, we picked it up, we lost it, and sure enough, we come up to a bush and there’s a guy lying underneath and an ANP guy is pointing at him.”

The injured man was older than the dead teen, maybe twenty-five, and he was bleeding from a round that had entered his buttocks and exited through the front of his leg.

Hamilton’s head filled with memories of lost friends and colleagues—particularly Captain John Croucher, seriously wounded in a May 25 IED strike—and, with adrenalin from the firefight still flooding through him, he was enraged.

“Willy had to calm me because I was pissed,” he says. Looking at the wounded man, “I said, ‘Why the fuck should I pass you up?’ And I was telling him this through my interpreter, and I said, ‘If I was under the bush there, bleeding, and you came across me, what would you do to me?’

“And he said, ‘Oh, I’d take you back to my compound and heal you up,’ and I said, ‘That’s bullshit.’

“And I know it, because about two days earlier, out in Helmand Province [the British AO, or Area of Operation], they caught two Brits and they basically beheaded one of them and dragged the other behind the truck, so I know what they do to people they catch.

“And I said, ‘That’s bullshit. Because I’m better than you, because we’re better than you, I will heal you up and patch you up and take you back.’”

Hamilton had with him a medic, who did tend to the man’s wounds—good thing, too, because it took about three hours before a Black Hawk landed to take the Talib to the base hospital at KAF.

While they were waiting for the chopper, the platoon rounded up the captured weapons, but had to retrieve them from the ANP because they had found the injured man first and “had already scrounged everything off the guy, so it was just a complete waste of any possible intelligence that was on him. But those pricks had already rifled through him. I managed to claw back the weapons from them, and I gave them the RPG and then was told we’re not allowed to give them RPGs and it was a fight to get it back. You almost have to punch them out to get stuff back from them.”

That was Hamilton’s first real firefight as a commander, and it was an all-round success.

“I don’t pretend to be Rommel or anything like that,” he says. “It’s just the conditions were right: We managed to surprise them, I had the terrain advantage with that high ridge there, and for once—probably the only time—we probably outnumbered them. And had superior firepower, all those things that as a commander, in the perfect war, in a perfect battle, you want to have checked off in your box.”

And, thanks to Schnurr’s giddy announcement, recce came up with what Hope later called “the best fire control order I have ever heard. We preach ‘effects-based planning’ so as to determine the clear definition of what exact effect it is that we want to produce upon the enemy,” he said in an email. “Clearly, throughout the tour, I wanted to ‘fuck ’em up’ more often than not, but I am too educated to articulate with such clarity an exact meaning.”

From July 4 onward, Hamilton says, “anyone who even messed with us, and they picked on us because we looked smaller and weak, we just hammered the crap out of them with everything we had.”

It was during this period that recce conducted what Hamilton describes as “recon by force—drive till somebody shoots at you.” The platoon was nicknamed the Bullet Magnets by Major Kirk Gallinger, with whose Alpha Company it most often worked.

 

The lessons came as fast as the RPGs for the sophisticated young Hamilton, who was raised in the small rural town of Norwood, Ontario, and environs but who spent two years in his wife Carolina’s home country, Venezuela. There he picked up a bit of Spanish and took bets on sports for a bookie, before coming home and landing a job in the export-import field (he brought meat from Mexico to Brampton) he had studied at college.

“And I hated it,” he says. “Detested it.”

He applied to the military but didn’t hear a word for eight months—typical for the Canadian army circa the turn of the century, which usually acted as though applicants ought to be grateful if they were even given a look and whose top speed tended toward the glacial. “I thought it was dead and gone—‘No, we don’t want him’—and then I got this call out of the blue.”

He was twenty-three, and he was in.

Hamilton’s grandfathers had both been in the military. One, Major-General G.G. Brown, was a former colonel of the regiment who fought in the Second World War. Brown lived in Calgary, but the family had a small cottage on an island in Quebec where they all gathered in the summers. “He loved to spend time with his grandkids. He’d appoint one sergeant-major for the day, make sure the chores got done. I had no idea what a sergeant-major was at that age, but then he’d tell us enough, stories about him being wounded.”

But it was his grandfather Hamilton, a volunteer with the Toronto Irish, who really intrigued him. “Like he couldn’t even say ‘World War 2’ without getting choked up, and it always stuck with me. What made him tick like that? What made him like that?”

Hamilton heard about his paternal grandfather’s experiences largely through others, learned that he had seen action in Sicily, then all the way up the Italian boot until finally reaching Holland. “Holland was where it really got to him,” Hamilton says. “I remember him telling me, ‘We went in and saw the children there, they had nothing to eat,’ and that was it, just knowing the kind of compassionate man he was with children, and everyone else.”

For the longest time, he believed that Grandpa Hamilton “might have been upset that he had to kill somebody else, and that’s why he was crying. But now I know it’s not the case. Losing your mates beside you, that’s what chokes…not that we’re born murderers, but it’s something we have to do, and we…it’s something that had to be done.”

 

On July 13, in a village called Hyderabad in central Helmand Province—known as the Green, both because it is lush with poppies and because exorbitant proceeds from those plants make it what Willy MacDonald calls the moneybelt of the Taliban—Hamilton had his first up-close brush with the spectre that had so haunted his grandfather.

The soldiers had travelled at night, through a huge dust storm that allowed them to make excellent time. They were to take a quiet peek at a compound where it was believed a Taliban commander—called an MVT, or Medium-Value Target, in army-speak—was holed up and opium and IED-making cells were being housed.

The original plan was for Hamilton and a complement of eleven soldiers to go in dismounted with some Afghans, but there were the usual minor screw-ups and delays—vehicles getting stuck and the like—and Hamilton was beginning to think the mission had been called off just as Gallinger handed him a satellite phone. It was Hope, and the CO told him to get going: They wanted recce in, and out again, before first light.

Hamilton drew up a quick plan—as formal as battle procedure often got in Afghanistan—and finally began to move.

They went through the village—Hamilton remembers that the first call to Muslim prayer was floating gracefully on the air—and arrived at a little mud bridge, the only way across to the compound, located on the west side of a canal that linked to the Helmand River.

As one element of the platoon secured the near side of the bridge, Mars Janek and his two men moved single file across it to secure the far side. On Janek’s thumbs-up, the rest of the platoon began going across. It was still dark, MacDonald says, “but with colours changing as dawn quickly approached.”

The 155-millimetre guns of the 1st Royal Canadian Horse Artillery’s A Battery fired an illumination plan off in the distance to distract enemy eyes from the small recce group. Just as half of the platoon was across the bridge, three people were spotted running through a field to the west.

The men on the bridge stopped, adopted fire positions, and waited, while MacDonald jogged past them to the far side—the only sounds he heard made by his men chambering rounds in their rifles—where Hamilton was in an irrigation ditch.

At the same time, Janek moved with his two men to the cut-off position north of the compound.

“That,” says MacDonald, “is when the world around us exploded.”

A hail of gunfire—from AK-47s—and RPGs came from an estimated twenty-five to forty enemy spread in a horseshoe shape covering the west, south, and northwest.

“We had to position ourselves to counter that,” Hamilton says. He had Jeff Schnurr up on a hill, and another small group on the other flank keeping up the fire.

But Janek’s detachment had been ambushed from the compound wall and was now cut off, thirty metres from the rest of the platoon.

“I couldn’t fucking find them,” Hamilton says.

With MacDonald directing fire from Schnurr and machine gunner Jimmy Funk, Janek’s crew made its way back to the relative safety of the irrigation ditch. Only, Mars Janek was missing. MacDonald and Hamilton were trying frantically to locate him, visually and on the radio, when someone yelled, “Mars is hit!”

Janek had been shot in the back, the round stopping in the plate of his body armour, and had the wind knocked out of him. When he could catch his breath, with the platoon still taking fire, he fell into another ditch.

“I think he’s fucking dying or something,” Hamilton says.

He didn’t know that the medic, Private Jason Lamont, had “made a decision,” as MacDonald puts it, a decision for which the young man, now a corporal, would be awarded a Medal of Military Valour.

“Without direction or concern for his own well-being,” MacDonald says, “Lamont got up and sprinted through approximately thirty metres of open terrain, under a heavy and concentrated enemy fire, in an attempt to get Janek.”

Hamilton, who knew only that Janek wasn’t answering his calls, says, “The medic was just a wee, wee guy, ninety pounds soaking wet, you know that type? And he had run over. Mars is about six fucking four, about 270 pounds, he’s a huge Slovak. And obviously [Lamont] went over to see if he was all right, and he was all right, and [Lamont] had come back.

“I didn’t see that.

“Next thing I see is Mars still lying there and I said, ‘I’m fucking going to get Mars,’ so I ran over. I thought he was really hurt, and as I was running over, I thought, ‘How the hell am I going to pick this big son of a bitch up?’ I fucking grab him and I pulled him out of the ditch and start to help him across and he said, ‘Fuck, Hammy, I’m all right.’

“And I just, I tell you, I’m better with it now,” Hamilton says, “but the first time I had to tell this story I burst into tears because I just love the guy so much, and I just couldn’t stand him not being here.”

About twenty to thirty minutes later, A Company’s 2 Platoon rolled up in their Light Armoured Vehicles (LAVs), and with the compound burning and the enemy beginning to flee, recce temporarily withdrew to safety under the welcome boom-boom-boom of the LAVs’ 25-millimetre cannons.

When the platoon returned not long after to exploit the scene and assess the battle damage, they found five confirmed dead and another five to ten suspected dead; weapons and ammunition; raw opium paste so concentrated, Hamilton says, “that if you touch it it’ll absorb into your skin and really fuck you up” and with a street value of about $15 million (U.S.); high-value intelligence items that can’t be identified; and anti-Canadian jihadist propaganda.

“I got my interpreter to translate the first part of it,” Hamilton says, “so I could relay back to command what we had found, and it said that all Afghans should basically rise up and jihad against the invaders, especially the United States, Britain, and Canada. It carried on with some ranting and crap.

“But in a weird way, I felt proud to be a Canadian.

“Ever read those history textbooks on D-Day? And it’s all American and British troops? And I’m Canadian, dammit, and we were there, and so I guess it was finally nice to be recognized by the enemy…. We’re big enough to be recognized by guys who hate us, powerful enough to be recognized by those who hate Western society.”

 

And that was July.

The Afghan sun was relentless. I was there for most of the month, and even when I got up at 6 a.m. and opened the tent flap, the whiteness outside was so blinding I more often than not emerged in a stumble, as surely as if I were drunk.

The day I landed in Kandahar the temperature hit 60 degrees Celsius (the big thermometer outside the media tents at KAF hit that number, then stopped working). Even on the mountaintops, where it was coolest, A Company’s 3 Platoon once measured the temperature at 45 degrees Celsius.

July saw the troops drinking at minimum six litres of bottled water a day, more often between twelve and eighteen.

July was all combat.

These were not the isolated skirmishes of peace-stabilization missions, such as Canadians had performed in Bosnia, nor the one-off fight like the valiant men of the 2nd Battalion of the Patricias waged at the Medak Pocket in Croatia in 1993.

This was new—or rather ancient—because it was war.

July was a daily diet of long battles that went on for hours and stretched the battle group thin over six hundred kilometres in seven separate districts over some of the most treacherous terrain in Afghanistan.

I had last seen the soldiers in early April.

When I caught up with them just three months later, I barely recognized them. They were exhausted and skinny (many sweated off twenty pounds in the heat, some as much as forty), and even if there were only a troubled few with the thousand-yard stare (and usually then just for a short time), most of them obviously had been through the wringer. But while the long period of IED-wrought helplessness, the enemy as ghost, had had them looking a little hunted, now they more resembled hunters.

They were a killing machine. “We were,” says Ian Hope. “I kept telling officers, ‘You need to encourage and push a moral sense of force. Morally, you have to feel superior.’”

Just when they might have imagined they had experienced every horror and every triumph, felt every emotion and whipsawed from adrenalin rush to terrible grief and guilt at being alive and back again, it turned out they hadn’t.


[image: image]


SERGEANTS PAT TOWER and Vaughan Ingram from Charlie Company were cranky.

Ordered to the Forward Operating Base at Spin Boldak—Spin was supposed to have been Charlie’s AO but in practice almost never was—their 9 Platoon had sat out virtually all of July’s fearsome fighting.

God knows, the troops deserved a respite.

They’d had a busy and wearing three months, much of it living on hard rations and in the dirt of a small Afghan National Army (ANA) camp called the 530 compound just off Highway 1, which runs west from Kandahar through the volatile Panjwaii district.

The 530 didn’t even have a tent.

“It looked like the Alamo or something,” Tower says, “just this big mud-walled compound. Had the grossest frigging Johnny-on-the-spot in Afghanistan.”

From the 530, they conducted dismounted patrols, shot and were shot at, and had the usual close calls, the closest on May 29, when Corporal Tim Nowlan asked Ingram for a cigarette.

In position as one of two rear air sentries—who travel standing up in the LAV, rifles at the ready, heads and upper bodies exposed—Ingram ducked down into the carrier to grab his smokes just before an RPG came roaring into the space he’d occupied.

“If he’d been standing up, it would have cut him right in half,” Tower says. Ingram, a handsome Newfoundlander from the hamlet of Burgeo, dined out on that story for a while, telling the troops how smoking had saved his life.

As it was, two other RPGs hit Ingram’s LAV in that ambush, and he and four others were injured seriously enough that they were choppered to KAF for repairs.

Ingram was still picking shards of metal out of his skin days after returning to the field, and in a picture Tower has from that time, the big man with the telltale shrapnel face looks more like a spotty teen than the thirty-five-year-old hard charger he was. As Ingram told Hope, he was but “temporarily ugly.”

Tower’s own LAV was hit in the same ambush, one RPG blowing up underneath the vehicle, flattening the tires and dropping the suspension, the second exploding against its side.

I winced when I heard that, because I had been in Tower’s first LAV, back in early April, for a punishing twenty-four hours as we made our way to FOB Robinson, then a primitive patch of near-desert about 100 kilometres west of Kandahar in the badlands of Helmand Province.

Possessed of a dry wit and easy confidence, Tower is one of those guys so baldly competent in virtually everything he does that even a dopey reporter recognizes it immediately; I felt safe beside him.

At that time, Charlie Company’s mission was to secure the little FOB where just a week earlier one of their own, twenty-two-year-old Private Rob Costall, and U.S. Army Medic John T. Stone were killed in a vicious three-sided Taliban attack that sprung from the surrounding compounds and small hills.

If the loss of Costall and Stone wasn’t warning enough, the potential perils of the mission were clearly spelled out for the soldiers in detailed briefings. But the troops were eager for their first real action, not only of the tour but also, for many, of their entire careers.

As Tower said then, “I’ve been waiting for this all my life.”

As it turned out, it was quite a storied crew and a memorable trip, for all the usual mixed-up reasons.

In addition to Tower, who in 2006 was awarded the Star of Military Valour, in the LAV with me were Corporal Paul Rachynski, Private Joe Rustenburg, and Master Corporal Tony Perry, all of whom received Mentions in Dispatches. And throughout that endless trip—interrupted by a traffic accident that seriously injured two young privates, Dawson Bayliss and Daniel Mahlo; vehicles that got lost or broke down; and alarming reports of suicide bombers driving through the congested streets of Kandahar, trying to find a clear route to our convoy—there was on the radio the constant, soothing voice of a young woman named Nichola Goddard, a Forward Observation Officer (FOO) who then had only forty-five days to live.

However, the fight the troops had expected at FOB Robinson never materialized, and it wasn’t until May that 9 Platoon really got into the shit.

 

On June 15, back in Canada, I got an email from Tower, describing the platoon’s third visit in recent weeks to Panjwaii. “Every time there has been some action,” he wrote, “but nothing like this last time.”

On the first visit, Captain Goddard was killed; on the second visit, the platoon was ambushed; on this third visit, there was a company-sized contact.

With a section on leave and Warrant Officer Shaun Peterson still back at KAF going through detox for a bad bite to the ankle from a five-foot viper, the platoon was under-strength and down to twenty-one men. They were sweeping dismounted through the village of Seyeden, on high alert because “we’d go into these compounds, and there’d be the laundry out, and the people were just there—and they’re gone.”

The area is a rat’s maze of high mud walls tight to both sides of all roads and any driveable wadis, the branches of grapevines so close they brush and scratch against the tops of the LAVs.

“We had to start heading north,” Tower says, “so I see where there’s a corner to head north into this town, I go around this corner, and there’s this guy at the end of it.”

The man started backing up, “so I know there’s something a little fishy,” Tower says.

“And he’s about fifty metres away and the thing is, you always go, ‘Does he have a weapon? Does he have a weapon?’ That’s the big thing. If he’s got a weapon, you can engage. So I’m looking and looking: Does this guy have a weapon? Has he got a gun?

“That’s all I’m thinking: Does this guy have a gun?

“He just [pulls one] out of nowhere—because it was in his man-dress, I could see it—and he just starts blasting at me with an AK.”

The man’s first rounds zipped along the side of the wall and sent up clouds of dust, and “he’s blasting through the dust at me and I’m blasting through the dust at him, and I’m near the end of my magazine, I know I’m almost out of ammo. I go, ‘This isn’t working,’ because I can hear rounds just going all around me.”

With his section right behind him now firing, Tower ducked back around the corner and he and the platoon commander tossed a couple of grenades and then sprinted up the alleyway.

The alley opened up into a big grape field, and from a tree line on the far side of it, Tower says, they took fire again. His platoon, spread out in an extended line returning fire, was soon joined by another section of men and the engineers attached to the company that day. Together, the soldiers formed a fire base so that 8 Platoon could come up the flank.

“As they were moving into position to do their flanking,” Tower says, “that’s when two of their privates were wounded.”

They were Kory Ozerkevich, now a corporal, who took a round to the armpit, and Brent Ginther, who was so seriously shot up in both legs that he was, Charlie Company commander Bill Fletcher says, “within five minutes of bleeding out” when evacuated by chopper.

With all that and more behind them, 9 Platoon surely had earned a rest by July, and the FOB at Spin offered that.

It has a kitchen, for one thing, so the troops didn’t have to eat the loathsome, preservative-laced rations, some of which come with those silica packs that most often accompany non-comestibles. It has small brick buildings, and compared to sleeping in the dirt at the side of a LAV, that is downright cushy.

But to Tower and Ingram, the relative luxury sat like punishment or exile; they were sidelined.

“I know how I felt,” Tower says. “I was pissed off, especially when you heard everything going on in Panjwaii and Helmand and you’re listening to the radio and you hear about guys getting killed and wounded, you just want to be there. So I was pissed off. I think most of the guys wanted to be there. I know, talking to Ingram, I know him and I, we’d sit around and bitch about it to each other.”

Things seemed to be winding down, in any case. The end of the tour was now in sight, the first of the Patricias had already left for the long trip back to Canada and others were getting “posted” (being posted out of the regiment to new assignments).

Then, late one night, Tower learned they were going back to KAF and then on into Panjwaii yet again. There, with Hamilton’s recce platoon, 9 Platoon would be attached to Hope (the CO is always called Niner on the radio) and his tactical detachment of engineer and artillery assets (called Niner’s Tac) with whom he always moved.

They were to be in the area of the notorious White School.

There are actually two White Schools, though they are often referred to as a single unholy entity. Both were built in 2004 with funds from the U.S. Commander’s Emergency Reconstruction Program (CERP). The southern school is in the village of Bayenzi, the northern one near Dagaran.

The school in Bayenzi had been a festering sore for the Patricias for months, and would remain so for their successors, the 1st Battalion, the Royal Canadian Regiment.

As far back as May 17, Hope remembers, the villagers complained to the local ANP that the Taliban had slept in the school overnight and turned children away in the morning. The Patricias duly rode to the rescue hours later and cleared the school, but when the traditional summer harvest break came and the students were off, the Taliban returned.

Again and again, the Canadians went back to give them the boot—a total of six times, Hope figures. And almost every time, it was a dangerous trip along Highway 1, which in the Panjwaii region is called Ambush Alley, with a hard fight at the end.

Now, they had multiple reports of another Taliban group holed up in the area, with fighters sleeping in the school again, a Taliban checkpoint established on the Arghendab River, and the Taliban’s white flag flying over the bazaar.

In addition, the ANP commander had received a call from the fellow who owned the marijuana field on the north side of the wadi. The man wasn’t phoning to report the forty Taliban hiding in his field, but rather to complain that they were crushing his hash.

The initial plan was to move past the White School—Nick Grimshaw’s Bravo Company coming down from the north and Niner’s Tac with 9 and recce platoons moving through the south—and seize the Bayenzi market. But as Hope says, “Missions evolve.”

“I tell you,” Grimshaw says, “certainly in my company, the guys were very, we were not looking forward to going there whatsoever. It was gonna be our fifth time going in. We knew what we were going up against.

“We knew the roads were impassable with LAVs because the bridges had been blown, we knew there were IEDs in the road, and we knew the Taliban were going to fight, going to stay and fight.”

The majority of Grimshaw’s men—from the 2nd Battalion—were slated to land at home base in Shilo, Manitoba, in just two weeks. “So there was that mindset: ‘Man, we’re so close to the end here, what’s going on.’ But we had a job to do and we got on with it.”

Hamilton was simply happy the CO wanted him along. “He had a lot of faith in my men there and I know that,” he says. “I was honoured. Anything he wanted done, I’d do it for him. Wasn’t an issue.”

 

At Patrol Base Wilson (PBW)—the grimy base named after Master Corporal Tim Wilson, killed in a vehicle accident in early March, that sits just off Highway 1—Hamilton and Peterson, 9 Platoon’s acting commander, got quick orders from Hope and then sat down to figure out “how we were gonna do this exactly.”

The convoy left PBW in the wee hours of August 3, drove in total blackout across Highway 1 toward the Panjwaii district centre, and headed northwest toward the wadi, 9 Platoon in the lead, then recce and Niner’s Tac.

Just after 4 a.m., Tower’s platoon spotted men armed with RPGs and AK-47s on a mud wall to the west, and engaged for about fifteen minutes, taking “out all those enemy.”

At 4:13 a.m., about 150 metres from a bridge, the third LAV in the line struck a remote-controlled IED.

Grimshaw, north and on the other side of the Arghendab River, could see the flash in the sky and knew it was a bomb of significant size. “We could see the LAVs firing, and I was thinking, ‘Here we go.’”

It was the platoon commander’s LAV—hard-luck Peterson, who’d been bitten by the snake and blown up a couple of times. He was concussed—hell, he was still concussed from an earlier IED strike—and badly shaken up, but he wasn’t the most badly injured; the LAV driver, Corporal Chris Reid, was mortally wounded.

The medics worked frantically on Reid. “They did CPR for forty-five minutes until the bird came,” Randy Northrup remembers. “Sweating buckets, all for naught.”

As they waited for the helicopter, Hamilton and Ingram, by default now the 9 Platoon commander, went forward to secure the scene, all standard procedure whenever there’s a blast.

What they discovered stunned them: well-prepared firing points for IEDs, defensive positions around the bridge, an RPG with ammunition, spider (initiation) devices for bombs, and by his count, three more IEDs, some already half-buried in the soft ground.

Pat Tower also saw water bottles in the trees, blood trails, and “prayer mats all laid out.”

In the final tally, Hope said in a “lessons learned” presentation he delivered in Edmonton, there were five IEDs placed along a hundred-metre stretch of road leading out of the wadi and up to a bridge over a small canal.

With so many bombs about, they called in the Explosives Ordnance Disposal (EOD) team, composed of combat engineers and navy officers, to come on foot to have a look, and they brought their LAV to blow up what they found.

“They got about ten feet,” Hamilton says, “and BOOM! Another IED goes off. I was dismounted, walking back toward the bridge when the thing went off, and I just remember walking—BOOM! It kind of knocked me over a bit, and there was just this terrible, just toxic cloud of grey smoke and mist, and just disgusting chemical smoke-type thing.

“It knocked the transmission right out of the fucking thing [the LAV],” Hamilton says, but the engineers inside walked away with only three injured—bumps and bruises mostly, no one seriously hurt. Indeed, the men inside were so composed they told the troops, desperate to come forward to help them, to stay back because there were cook-offs, or smaller blasts, still exploding.

Hamilton brought Hope, who was only 150 metres away, up to have a look.

The school was tantalizingly close, maybe four hundred metres, but the mission had changed from a clearance of suspected Taliban positions to a large recovery operation.

As Hope tells anyone who will listen, “Everything in Afghanistan submits to incredible frictions. All plans change with the breakdown of one vehicle, the wounding of one soldier.”

Despite army doctrine to the contrary, it was Hope’s practice to stop everything in order to extract his casualties. “One may criticize the inevitable loss of momentum this brought,” he says. “To this I respond that the destruction of no number of Taliban was so important as the safe evacuation of one Canadian—or ANSF.”

Similarly, he knew, no number of dead Taliban was equal to the propaganda value the enemy would claim if a LAV was abandoned on the battlefield, so he always recovered vehicles too.

While all this was going on, Grimshaw’s Bravo Company was involved in a significant fight near the north school.

 

It was barely 9 a.m.

“We’d never seen this intensity,” Hope remembers. “At first light, we saw their defensive positions: they’d put holes in all the walls, the irrigation system was a trench system, they were wired up for multiple IEDs, rockets lined up.”

By about noon, as they were waiting for the signal from the EOD boys to begin extracting the dead vehicles, Hope got intelligence that their silent night move had worked, and that a Taliban commander had been caught flat-footed and was now trapped in the south school to the west.

With one man dead, four injured, and two vehicles already down and disabled, the CO decided it was too risky to send the LAVs any further, and that the only option was to press on dismounted.

Hope remembers asking Hamilton and Ingram, “Can you guys take that school?” Ingram, with that long, slow smile sliding across his face, replied, “Hell, yes.”

Hamilton and Ingram had never worked together before, just knew one another a little.

Shortly before the battalion headed overseas, Hamilton had instructed a resistance-to-interrogation course. At one point, he needed help with what he calls, with uncharacteristic delicacy, “some very active demonstrations…. I had [Ingram] act as a guard, actually, and he just got right into it, eh?” He called Ingram Iggy, as most everyone did, as people call him Hammy.

Now they planned as best they could. They divvied themselves up, with Hamilton leading a group, which included the trusty Willy MacDonald, to the White School up along a canal, and Ingram taking the other, which included Pat Tower, up a ditch that ran parallel.

“Two separate axes of advance on either side of the road,” Hamilton says. “At least give them two things to shoot at, instead of one.”

They split up their ANP—instead of the promised one hundred, twenty-six men had shown up—and then waited for the Apache attack helicopters to arrive.

The sections stepped off, as they call it, “and sure enough, from in behind us, the shooting starts, and it’s with Vaughan Ingram there, and the shooting is going in behind us,” Hamilton says.

It was, as they realized later, only harassing fire. “Looking back on it, they [the Taliban] were buying themselves time, just to set us up,” Hamilton says.

Meanwhile, he and Ingram couldn’t get their coms working.

“For some reason I can’t talk to him,” Hamilton says. “Everybody thinks it’s nice and easy, that you can talk clear to people, [tell them] what’s going on, but you can’t. People forget about the radios, and they don’t always work, and you don’t always have the full idea of what’s going on.”

So he made his way back, found Ingram in the ditch, and jumped in.

“Private [Andy] Social is to the left of Vaughan there, and I’m beside Vaughan, and we’re talking, lighting up a smoke, and Social gets a round in his plate and he fucking gets in the ditch…and we go, ‘You all right?’ And he goes, ‘Yeah, fuck, I’m fine.’ He just got it in the plate, but he’s shook up.”

With the firing still going on, Social got the dry heaves, and Hamilton and Ingram started to ride him just a bit. “You know what,” Hamilton said, “it’s just, be thankful you’re alive, you’re all right. You got everything. Now we can fucking make fun of you, it’s the old soldier’s way.”

The plan was always for the Patricias to push the attached ANP into the school, the old “Afghan face” dictum, with the Canadians supposedly “acting in support” of them. The ANP actually made it into the school, but the moment they started to move for the bazaar and take fire—it was sporadic, what Hamilton compares to being “in the woods and there’s someone duck hunting beside you”—they pulled back.

“All I see is a fucking sea of blue of these guys coming back, running away from the school,” he remembers, “and I go, ‘What the fuck?’” Hamilton was furious. “Part of the plan was to get the ANP in front of us as we approached the school, because it’s their fucking country, and every mission we’re supposed to have an Afghan face on it, and I thought, ‘You know what, it’s about time they started fucking coming good on this, let’s get them up there. Fucking, you know what, I hate to say cannon fodder, but you know what, it’s time for them to take the fucking lead. We’ll push up behind and make sure they do it right.’”

He got on the radio to Hope: “I said, ‘Sir, this is the situation. There’s small-arms fire coming from the vicinity of the school, the ANP have run back, and they’re hiding in the ditch right now.’

“And he goes, ‘Jon, you’re going to have to hold their hand and take them in there. You have to lead the way in there.’

“And I said, ‘Roger that, sir.’”

Deep down inside, Hamilton says, he knew all along he’d have to do that anyway.

By now, Ingram had discovered that the canal didn’t go all the way to the school, and that he and his men would have to join Hamilton and go up via the ditch on the north side of the road.

It was late morning now, and the withering sun—temperatures were between 57 and 60 degrees Celsius—was taking its toll. Both platoon signallers, who carry the radios, batteries, and heavy coms gear on their backs, in addition to the usual seventy pounds of ammo, body armour, and weapons, had collapsed with heat stroke.

“It’s not heat stroke where you just say, ‘I’m too hot, I don’t feel like fighting,’” Hamilton says. Men were staggering with it, fucked up, not making sense. Matt Tibbetts was one of the signallers. He kept apologizing, telling Hamilton, “Sir, I’m sorry.”

“You don’t be sorry, you’re humping that fucking radio,” Hamilton told him.

The heat stroke casualties were dropped at cut-off points, to be rounded up when things were quieter.

There were now fourteen soldiers, Canadians all, who formed the assault element and were positioned tight to a mud wall running along the south side of the road.

Using the wall for cover, under continuous small-arms and RPG fire, they began making their way to the school, one small section moving as another kept up suppressing fire. With this fire-and-movement technique, the men gained about two hundred metres of ground and hit the wall’s end.

The school was very close, about 150 metres away, but across open, flat terrain.

Corporals Bryce Keller and Mark Bedard, the pair manning the General Purpose Machine Gun, or C6, had covered the first group of men as they made the dash to the school, but they were beginning to fail in the punishing heat. They didn’t know whether they had enough left to make the run to the school themselves.

MacDonald asked whether they could, given a few minutes to rest and drink. As Hamilton says, through the sheer force of his leadership, MacDonald can pull the last and best from his men.

The second group, unaware that the machine gunners weren’t with them, made their run, and as they moved, Kevin Dallaire was hit in the chest with a round.

“The soldiers scrambled to get him to cover and dress his wounds,” MacDonald says, but in the ensuing confusion, he and the machine gun team lost verbal and visual contact with them. “It was decision time.”

He told Keller and Bedard they could stay and cover him or make the run with him. “I told the two soldiers that the run would be under enemy fire, with no suppression from the assault element. The troops knew what had to be done.” MacDonald grabbed the spare C6 ammo and barrel to lighten Bedard’s load, “and we prayed and began to run.”

Bullets whined off the ground around them, buzzing in their ears. RPGs roared by their heads.

As soon as they got inside the school—they were actually in small outbuildings, two bathrooms, male and female, separated by about eight feet and a wall a little higher than chest height—MacDonald says Ingram grabbed Keller and placed him in a firing position to “suppress the enemy fire which was now almost overwhelming.”

MacDonald looked around. “I realized things were really bad…the situation was dire.” Inside the school, they had Dallaire, wounded but still alive, and another five or six fresh heat stroke casualties.

Hamilton was in one of the bathrooms, MacDonald in the other. Some soldiers were still laying down suppressing fire, some were throwing back water, some were catching the faint breeze that wafted in the alley between the little buildings.

MacDonald was trying to call in artillery support; he’s a trained Forward Air Controller, or FAC. After about thirty minutes, he was finally shut down at the brigade level “because of the risk of collateral infrastructure damage,” he says.

“Colonel Hope became very angry at that. On the radio,” Hamilton says.

Hope’s end of this fiery exchange with General Dave Fraser was heard by more than a few sets of ears. The CO was “screaming for bullets” (the artillery’s big ones). Gallagher, the guns commander who as always was with Hope, was also screaming for bullets, says someone who heard them on the air.

But the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) had just taken over the reins from the Americans in Afghanistan, and the rules for artillery had changed overnight from so-called “danger close” distance of 250 metres from buildings to the “peacetime safe distances” of 750 metres.

Fraser turned down his CO cold—the first and only time the Patricias were denied fire support by the higher-ups—and if Fraser was correct in abiding by the rules of the game as NATO wanted to play it, many were furious that, as one of them put it, “After seven months of this shit, he didn’t trust his people on the ground.”

Hamilton, meanwhile, did some calculating, figuring it would take four men to get Dallaire back to safety. With the heat stroke casualties, he realized he simply didn’t have the numbers to get the soldiers out on their own.

He got on the radio and told Hope, by now at a casualty evacuation point no more than five hundred metres away, that he had people going down from the heat.

The discussion of whether to bring in the artillery was still going on, Hamilton remembers, because “I was talking on the radio, next thing I recall is a big boom and my ears were just ringing.”

A lone RPG had hit the wall of the eastern bathroom, devastating the area, the shock wave knocking down the soldiers in the western toilet. “The soldiers in the eastern building were not as lucky,” MacDonald says. “Corporal Keller, Private Dallaire, and Sergeant Ingram were all killed.” Four others were wounded, including Hamilton.

“It was that kind of same dark black-grey cloud there was with the IED there,” he says, “and kind of the smell of cordite, and I felt something hit my foot and I said, ‘What the hell is that?’ It took me about a split second to know I’d been hit. I didn’t know what the fuck it was, and this all seemed to take forever but I know it was fairly quick. I remember thinking, ‘Well, when the dust clears I’m probably not going to see my foot there.’”

The smoke cleared.

“I looked down at the desert boot I had on—I usually wear my personal-bought $300 handmade mountain boots, and I’m kind of glad I didn’t that day—but there was blood coming through my right foot obviously, and I saw the boot was still there, so the foot had to be there to some extent, and I said, ‘Fuck, I gotta get on the radio.’”

What Ian Hope and Randy Northrup heard, back at the casualty collection point, was, “If you don’t get LAVs in here now, we’re all gonna die. If you don’t get LAVs in here now, we’re all gonna die.”

Hamilton remembers saying it, but in his memory—probably because it is inconceivable to him that he would have failed to use his favourite expletive—it was: “Get those fucking LAVs up here now!”

Then he called for MacDonald, just across the channel between the two buildings: “I said, ‘Fucking Willy, get the fuck over here!’ I leaned on him, again, when I needed to and again he came through for me.”

Disoriented from the shock wave, and with enemy fire—machine guns and RPGs—still raining down, MacDonald made a break for it.

“As I came around the corner,” he says, “I was assaulted by what I saw. Three soldiers appeared dead, and several more were writhing in agony from their multiple injuries. Those that were not hit by enemy fire were either hysterical or unable to do anything but stare at me in disbelief and shock. The only person in control was Hammy.”

MacDonald apologized, of course, for not getting there sooner. Hamilton looked him in the eyes and said, “Don’t worry about it, Will. I knew you’d come for me.”

MacDonald then did what he describes in the very mildest of terms as dressing Hamilton’s wound, putting a tourniquet just below his knee to stop the bleeding.

Hamilton will have none of that: “Not only was he there as a fucking physical support, he was there as an emotional support—you know, telling me I was a good leader and I did a good job, you know? He was just always there for me. I just, as a commander, I couldn’t have asked for a better right-hand man.”

Next, Pat Tower burst into the bathroom. He had been working his way up to the school, with his guys, when Hamilton’s cry for help came over the radio. All he’d had to hear was that there were casualties: He grabbed Master Corporal Cole, who was suffering terribly from the heat but refused to be left behind, and the medic, Corporal Nic Lewis. They did “a runner”—sprinting, under heavy fire, across those 150 metres of open ground. They weren’t even sure where anyone was; they just ran in the general direction of the school.

Cole later found a bullet hole in his magazine pouch. As Tower says in his casual manner, “I tell you, there was a lot of shooting going on at us as we were doing this runner.”

They went, first, to the western building. Corporal Jason Hoekstra had picked up the C6 (“Shoot until you fucking die,” MacDonald told him), because Keller was dead. Private Andrew Gorman was in the doorway of the other building, “and Gorman,” Tower says, “he’s not really part of our platoon, he’s a storeman normally, but he’s still a Patricia. So Gorman’s in the doorway, and I tell Gorman, ‘Give me a bit of covering fire,’ as I’m going to come over to the other side. So he starts shooting, and I come around and as I come up I can see that he’s wounded, like his hand, like he’s shooting but he’s wounded, blood coming off him. Right on, good job, Gorman.”

MacDonald remembers seeing Tower and his band of two arrive. “I said, ‘Thank God you’re here, Pat. How many guys do you have?’” MacDonald thought, hoped, prayed, that Tower had come in a LAV.

Tower looked at MacDonald. “And I go, ‘Where’s Vaughan?’ and he goes, ‘Vaughan’s dead.’”

Arriving right behind Tower was Master Corporal Tony Perry in his LAV, and right behind him was Master Corporal Kiwi Parsons in his.

Just as Tower had moved at the first word of casualties, the two crew commanders had heard Hamilton’s terrible transmission and that was all it took.

“Jon called for help,” Ian Hope says, “and I had a few seconds of real hard decision making, weighing the probability of another LAV killed by an IED.”

Major Mason Stalker, the battalion’s operations officer based at KAF, had managed to push three fresh platoons into the area to help out, and Hope asked Perry to relay a message to Ben Richard of Alpha’s 2 Platoon, to mount up and go to the school.

But instead, as the CO watched, Perry and Parsons pulled their LAVs ahead of Richard’s. “Seeing where they were,” Hope says, “it made perfect sense and they were doing the right thing.” He had to fight back the almost overpowering urge to mount up and go himself.

“They didn’t even wait for the order,” Hamilton says of Perry and Parsons. “They knew that the road was full of IEDs, said, ‘Fuck it, our boys are in trouble. We’re going.’”

The LAVs each fired four hundred rounds on the way.

Hamilton saw Dallaire and Keller. “It was obvious that they were gone. I just remember looking at Vaughan there, and he just kinda looked up at me, and I thought, ‘Fuck, he’s all right,’ and then he just slumped his head over to the side.”

Hamilton was on the radio, calling for help, but MacDonald remembers the moment in detail. “Vaughan was dying and he knew he was dying, but he had a field dressing in his hand and he was trying to do first aid on one of the boys. I think it was Bryce Keller, but it might have been Dallaire. Vaughan looked up at us and said, ‘I think I’m slipping, boys,’ and then he just died. His head dropped and he was gone.”

It took the three LAVs to get everyone out of the White School. The wounded, MacDonald at Hamilton’s side, went in one, the dead in another. The ANP were already in their trucks.

“Hiding,” says Hamilton. “If I could have shot them, I probably would have shot the ANP, I think.”

They arrived at the casualty collection point, where the CO and RSM were in a piece of modular tent off the back of one of the Bison armoured vehicles that are always used as ambulances. Hope’s VHF (Very High Frequency) coms were down, the satellite link was iffy, and rounds were still clipping through the top of the tent. He was in a sweat-soaked T-shirt at the very back, surrounded by his bleeding and moaning men, trying to work three radios to control the fight, have the unexploded IEDs cleared so the two disabled LAVs could be recovered, and get the mass casualty evacuation under way.

“I was unsure whether or not my messages were transmitting,” he says, “because I wasn’t receiving anything, so I wasn’t sure anyone could hear our requests for support.”

Back at KAF in his command post, Lieutenant-Colonel John Conrad was monitoring Hope’s progress on the radio net. “I heard fear and stress in Ian’s voice as he ordered both medevac and equipment recovery off the battlefield. It was as rattled as I have ever heard Ian become, understandably so. I learned later from him that he could hear nothing on his end of the radio, so in the middle of that difficult fight he had no idea if any of his calls for assistance were being heard or acknowledged by any of us. They were.”

As the logistics boss, Conrad and his troops had pulled off miracles before—particularly when the battle group was sent deep into Helmand Province to take back two district centres and the National Support Element (NSE) had to keep the soldiers supplied over 350 kilometres for the better part of a month.

Conrad sent out a convoy of Bisons, wreckers, and lowbed trailers to bring back the two damaged LAVs under the command of Lieutenant Doug Thorlakson. The recovery column had to lay up beside the Panjwaii district centre until the soldiers were able to drag the dead LAVs back to a safe point, where Thorlakson’s crew could load them up.

“It was a crowded area by the district centre,” Conrad says, “with a decent-sized market replete with civilians.”

Thorlakson was standing watch in his Bison with a C6 machine gun when a vehicle, driving erratically, appeared.

“He used hand signals to get it to pull over, and for a moment it did,” Conrad says. “I expect this was for the driver to say a final prayer, or screw up his courage, because he immediately pulled out into the centre of the road and began accelerating toward the parked recovery convoy.”

Thorlakson “walked his stream of machine gun fire up the road and into the windshield of the car,” Conrad says. It detonated instantly, pieces of shrapnel flying.

Except for minor injuries, the Canadians escaped unscathed, though one piece of shrapnel just missed Thorlakson’s carotid artery and lodged in his neck. Unfortunately, in the crowded area, twenty Afghans, including some children, were killed. It is small consolation to realize that many of them—or others—likely would have been killed if the bomber had swerved into the convoy as planned.

But Thorlakson, Conrad says, “had fulfilled the apotheosis of duty—given the precious gift of life back to his men, some of whom would most certainly have been lost. He also saved nearly all of our holdings of fighting vehicle recovery equipment.”

Conrad and his deputy commanding officer (DCO) met the men at the base hospital when they returned. “The soldiers were badly shaken,” he says, “and there were many tears of remembrance, tears of relief, and tears for what very well could have been additional tragedy on an already black enough day. I was so proud of Doug. Taking out a suicide bomber, particularly a vehicle-borne bomber, is next to impossible.”

But when he went to see General Fraser that night, Conrad was astonished at his reaction. “I was so proud of Doug,” he says, “but the boss immediately went on the offensive: ‘Did he use the ROE properly? What was Doug doing out there?’ He was very concerned with the number of Afghans killed in the blast. Look, no one wants to see an Afghan get hurt, but…it was a very odd meeting.”

Fraser doesn’t dispute Conrad’s description, but is unapologetic.

“I take nothing at face value at the beginning,” he says, “and I will ask lots of questions which may appear offensive to ensure that we have all the facts.

“At the time, ROE [Rules of Engagement] escalations were on the rise and we needed to determine what was causing it, ensure that the local people still had confidence in our abilities to prosecute the mission.”

He says the incident, and his and Conrad’s starkly different reactions to it illustrate the differences in their jobs. For Fraser, the shooting was but one of a myriad of pieces in his big-picture view of the mission; for Conrad at that moment, it was everything.

“War,” Fraser says flatly of himself, “has a very bad effect of hardening you…it has made me more cold and calculating to get things done and not wait.”

Later, Fraser signed Conrad’s recommendation for Doug Thorlakson’s Mention in Dispatches for his conduct during what Conrad calls the day’s second battle of Pashmul. Yet there has been not a single public mention of the only known case where a suicide bomber was taken out before he could kill Canadian soldiers. The soldiers who were hurt that day blithely joke that their injuries were non-existent because it was “the attack that never happened.”

 

Hope and the RSM, frantically working at the casualty point, knew nothing of this drama; all they heard was the loudest boom from the largest explosion they had ever seen. Then, the most welcome noise in all the world: an American B-1 bomber roared in low, illegally low at maybe five hundred feet, followed by two U.S. fighter jets at seventy-five feet.

“The pilots had heard our distress [signals] and decided to add a psychological boost,” Hope says. It is one of the reasons why, in the PowerPoint notes he uses when he speaks about August 3, one of the key lessons learned is, “You can always trust the U.S. Air Force to help you out.”

The Taliban fire stopped.

Tower, now the acting 9 Platoon commander, gathered the remnants of his men together.

RSM Northrup watched in awe. “They were morally hurting, physically just hanging on. [Tower] did the Knute Rockne thing. He goes, ‘All right, I need you fucking guys to stand up. You, you’re the section commander; you, you’re the second-in-command. Shut the fuck up, this is what I want. I want everything inventoried. I need a movable force, I want ammo, weapons, dismounts. Gentlemen, it’s time. It’s your turn. Get on with it.’”

Within fifteen minutes, Northrup says, the shattered soldiers reported back to Tower through Kiwi Parsons, and Tower reported back to Northrup: “I’ve got these vehicles running, fully crewed, distributed ammo, where do you want us?”

“He was stellar,” Northrup says. “You think you only see that kind of shit in the movies until you actually live it. It was inspiring.”

Hope, seeing Tower ready to fight, with the fresh platoons at his side, was aching to send the men back in to finish the job. He fought his emotions, his desire for retribution. With no ANA to leave behind to solidify whatever gains they might make, any victory would be fleeting and too costly.

 

In the bright haze two Kandahar mornings later, the ramp ceremony for the fallen four was held. Fresh out of hospital, Jon Hamilton was there in his wheelchair. Willy MacDonald and Pat Tower were among the twenty-four pallbearers.

In video I saw afterwards, Tower was at the rear of Vaughan Ingram’s casket, thinner than I’ve ever seen him. His glasses kept slipping down his nose. He looked vulnerable, as you would when bidding farewell to your best friend.

In a picture that appeared on the cover of Maclean’s magazine, MacDonald, at the front of the casket, was clearly visible. The picture broke the hearts of his family and friends, he says.

Just as the photographer took the shot, Willy MacDonald had spotted Hammy in his wheelchair. “He began to cry,” MacDonald says, “and I was biting my lip and trying not to cry myself.”

As the caskets passed, Hamilton rose to his feet: “There was no fucking way I was sitting down for that.”
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